IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 96,852

JOY FRIEDRICH,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Discretionary Review of a Final Judgment and Certified Question of Great Public Importance from the Fourth District Court of Appeal

> RICHARD W. SPRINGER CATHERINE MAZZULLO SPRINGER & SPRINGER 3003 Couth Congress Avenue Suite 1A Palm Springs, FL 33461 (561) 433-9500

Counsel for Joy Friedrich

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The court below affirmed Joy Friedrich's convictions for DUI Manslaughter and

DUI Serious Bodily Injury, but certified this question as one of great public importance:

Does <u>Love v. Garcia</u>, 634 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1994), apply in criminal prosecutions where blood alcohol test results are offered as proof to establish an element of the offense, if the blood alcohol tests were administered by hospital personnel for medical treatment purposes?

<u>Friedrich v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2175 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (Appendix A). <u>Love v. Garcia</u> held in a civil case, that a hospital record of a blood alcohol test report was admissible as a business record kept in the ordinary course of hospital business.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On or about April 11, 1996 at approximately 8:00 p.m., the Petitioner, Joy Friedrich, was involved in a traffic accident at the intersection of Forest Hill Boulevard and Parker Avenue in the City of West Palm Beach (R-1). The Petitioner, Joy Friedrich, had a green light and right-of-way as she traveled westbound on Forest Hill Boulevard approaching the intersection (T-242). A pick-up truck traveling eastbound on Forest Hill Boulevard into the turn lane, waited for one car to pass, then turned northbound into the intersection (T-258-260). The Petitioner's vehicle, coming from the east, traveling west, made impact with the passenger's side of the pick-up truck (T-262). The

pick-up truck did not have a green arrow (T-278). The passenger of the pick-up truck was killed and the driver was injured, as well as a passenger in the Petitioner's car. Officer Rowe was the first police officer on the scene, and began a traffic accident investigation (T-298). After smelling an odor of alcohol coming from the Petitioner, Officer Rowe asked Sgt. Reed to draw a blood sample (T-296). Based on the fact that the Petitioner was injured and needed to be transported to St. Mary's trauma center, the blood sample was not drawn at Officer Rowe's request at the scene (T-297). For purposes of medical treatment, blood was taken from the Petitioner by hospital personnel.

At trial, the State called witness Laura Rastikin to testify. Her testimony was proffered outside the presence of the jury (T-396-400) and the Petitioner objected based on hearsay to the medical record the State was seeking to introduce through her (T-400). The trial court ruled that the medical record was admissible as a business records exception to hearsay (T-405). The medical record was received into evidence.

In the presence of the jury, Laura Rastikin testified that as the records custodian at St. Mary's Hospital, it is her responsibility to keep all medical records that relate to patients admitted to the hospital (T-407). The State asked Ms. Rastikin on direct whether the results were recorded at or near the time of the analysis (T-409, lines 15-17). Having already admitted during the proffer that she had no personal knowledge of this blood draw or the events related to it other than being the records custodian, the defense/petitioner objected based on lack of personal knowledge (T-409, lines 18-19). Said objection was overruled and Ms. Rastikin answered yes. Ms. Rastikin identified the records she brought in regard to the Petitioner (T-410) and the records were admitted into evidence over defense objection and subject to the proffer (T-411). On crossexamination, Ms. Rastikin admits to having no personal knowledge of the blood draw, did not witness anyone analyzing the blood, did not talk to anyone associated with analyzing the Petitioner's blood (T-412). Ms. Rastikin was only able to testify that the medical record had the patient's name on it, the admission date of April 11, 1996, and when asked for the result she answered, "you would have to get that from a doctor" (T-411). When asked to read the number, she read 207 (T-411). The hospital record admitted in this case was not the instrument print out generated by the chemical analyzer used to test the Petitioner's blood. Ms. Rastikin was not the records custodian for the laboratory. The record admitted was a computer generated report.

The Chief Forensic Toxicologist for Palm Beach County, F. Thomas Carroll, testified for the purpose of converting the medical blood alcohol content to a legal blood alcohol content. Mr. Carroll testified that he did not know who drew the blood nor did he have any personal knowledge of the maintenance or quality control of the laboratory instrument the Petitioner's blood was analyzed on.

The jury returned a verdict on Count I of Guilty of DUI Manslaughter as charged

in the Information, as to Counts II and III, Guilty of DUI Serious Bodily Injury as charged in the Information.

On February 6, 1998, the Petitioner was returned to the trial court for sentencing (T-595-617). The Petitioner was sentenced to 25 years in the Department of Corrections on Count I and 5 years in the Department of Corrections on Counts II and III each, all to run concurrent with each other. The Petitioner seeks reversal and a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The certified question of great public importance is:

I. Does <u>Love v. Garcia</u>, 634 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1994) apply in criminal prosecutions where blood alcohol test results are offered as proof to establish an element of the offense, if the blood alcohol tests were administered by hospital personnel for medical treatment purposes?

If the answer to the certified question is "yes", the following issues are presented:

- II. In the absence of the laboratory instrument print out or testimony of a records custodian from the laboratory with knowledge of the acts or events of the laboratory has the State established the proper predicate under the business record statute, § 90.803(6)(a), Fla. Stat., for admissibility of a hospital business record report of a laboratory test by testimony of a records custodian with no knowledge of the acts or events of the laboratory?
- III. Did the trial court impose an illegal sentence on the Petitioner when it sentenced the Petitioner to a term of imprisonment in excess of the statutory maximum

based on a guidelines scoresheet assessing victim injury points when the primary offense includes enhancement for death and victim injury as an element of the offense?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. State v. Strong, 504 So.2d 760 (Fla. 1987), a DUI Manslaughter medical blood case, held that since the State is not pursuing the presumptive validity or meaning of the blood test in accordance with legal blood drawn according to \S 316.1932(1)(f)(2), Fla. Stat., the medical blood must meet the traditional predicate for admissibility, including test reliability, the technician's qualifications and the test results' meaning. Without receding from Strong, Love v. Garcia, 634 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1994), a civil case, held that medical blood alcohol test reports are admissible as business records under § 90.803(6), Fla. Stat. In a criminal case in which the hospital business record is crucial evidence to prove the essential element of the offense, the well-established requirements of Strong provide the protection required to assure a fair proceeding. To allow <u>Love</u> to apply in criminal prosecutions this Court must recede from Strong which would allow the State to circumvent the established requirements for admitting medical blood alcohol evidence to prove an essential element of a crime and gain from all the statutory presumptions that are afforded legal blood when introduced showing substantial compliance with methods approved by the F.D.L.E.

If Love does apply to criminal prosecutions, it does not justify admissibility of the

hospital business records in this case, because the predicate to the admission of the hospital record was not sufficient to ensure reliability. In the present case, there was no link between the source of information contained in the document and the person who prepared the document, to the hospital records custodian as was the case in Love where the laboratory (Smith-Kline) records custodian and the hospital records custodian both testified.

2. If the hospital business record of the blood alcohol test is admissible and a new trial is not granted, the sentence should be reversed and the cause remanded to the trial court for resentencing because the Petitioner was sentenced to a term of imprisonment in excess of the statutory maximum based on the guidelines scoresheet inclusion of additional points for victim injury when the offenses charged include enhancement for victim injury as an element of the offense.

For all of the above reasons, the decision below should be reversed.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE HOSPITAL BUSINESS RECORD - A COMPUTER REPORT OF A MEDICAL BLOOD ALCOHOL TEST

A. <u>STATE v. STRONG</u> REQUIRED EXCLUSION OF THE MEDICAL BLOOD ALCOHOL REPORT.

A blood sample drawn for medical purposes differs from a blood sample drawn for legal purposes. To admit the blood test results of legal blood, the State must comply with the methods approved by the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE). See generally, Fla. Admin. Code R. 11D-8.013. If there is substantial compliance with FDLE regulations, and a result of .08 or more is obtained, that fact shall be prima facie evidence that the person was under the influence of an alcoholic beverage to the extent that his or her normal faculties were impaired. § 316.193 Fla. Stat. (1997). See also <u>Robertson v. State</u>, 604 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1992). When dealing with medical blood the parties are not bound by the requirements of FDLE for blood test result admissibility. <u>Strong v. State</u>, 504 So.2d 758 (Fla. 1987).

In 1987, the Supreme Court, in <u>State v. Strong</u>, a DUI Manslaughter medical blood case, held that since the State is not pursing the presumptive validity or meaning of the blood test in accordance with legal blood drawn according to statute § 316.1932(1)(f)(2), Fla. Stat., the medical blood test results must meet the traditional predicate for admissibility, including test reliability, the technician's qualifications, and the test results' meaning. <u>Strong</u>, 504 So.2d at 760 (Fla. 1987).

As recently as 1997, the Fourth District Court of Appeal readdressed the issue of medical blood admissibility in a criminal case in <u>State v. Sclafani</u>, 704 So.2d 128 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). Post <u>Love</u>, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that the

reliability criteria as stated in <u>Strong</u> governs and with medical blood the State must demonstrate that the technician is qualified, the test is reliable, and demonstrate the test results' meaning. <u>Sclafani</u>, 704 So.2d at 129 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997)

The Second District Court of Appeal, in March of 1994, post <u>Love</u>, in <u>Michie v. State</u>, 632 So.2d 1106 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1994), a criminal case involving medical blood also required the same criteria as <u>Strong</u>. In <u>Michie</u>, the presumption afforded by § 316.1934(2)(c) was not available because a blood sample was medical blood as opposed to legal blood drawn according to statute. The Second District Court of Appeal in following <u>Strong</u> requires that when a blood sample is drawn for medical purposes by a qualified health care professional, the State is still required to establish the traditional predicate for admissibility; the test's reliability, the examiner's qualifications, and the meaning of the test results. <u>Michie</u>, 632 So.2d at 1108 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1994) citing <u>Robertson v. State</u>, 604 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1992).

In this case, the trial court did not follow <u>Strong</u> and allowed the admission of the report of a test result under the business record exception used in <u>Love v. Garcia</u>, 634 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1994), a civil case. The District Court affirmed stating as it also stated in <u>Baber v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1478 (Fla. 4th DCA, June 23, 1999) that they were "reasonably confident" <u>Love</u> applies to criminal cases; however, this is an issue best left for the Florida Supreme Court. Because we have concerns about applying the principles set forth in <u>Love</u>, a civil case, to prove an element of a criminal offense. (Appendix A).

By substituting <u>Love</u> for <u>Strong</u>, the court below has allowed the State to circumvent the established requirements for admitting medical blood alcohol evidence to prove an essential element of a crime and gain from all the statutory presumptions that are afforded legal blood when introduced showing substantial compliance with methods approved by FDLE.

In the present case, the State did not meet <u>Strong</u>'s traditional requirements because the reliability of <u>this</u> blood test and the qualifications of the technician were not established as a predicate to admissibility. When the business record is the only proof of an essential element of an offense (the record does not contain any other evidence of impairment) a business record exception should not be allowed to so easily circumvent well-established requirements for admitting medical blood alcohol evidence as required by <u>Strong</u>. Recognizing that hospital personnel may rely on their records for medical purposes, it is done so with the support of additional diagnostic tools available to the hospital staff. Important medical procedures are rarely performed based on a single test reported by someone other than the clinician whose reliability and qualifications are known to the doctor making the diagnostic decision. In a criminal case in which the hospital business record is crucial evidence to prove the essential element of the offense, the well-established requirements of Strong provide the protection required to assure a

fair proceeding.

B. IN THE ABSENCE OF A PREDICATE SUFFICIENT TO ENSURE RELIABILITY, <u>LOVE v. GARCIA</u> SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED IN THIS CASE.

The certified question of great public importance is:

Does <u>Love v. Garcia</u>, 634 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1994), apply in criminal prosecutions where blood alcohol test results are offered as proof to establish an element of the offense, if the blood alcohol tests were administered by hospital personnel for medical treatment purposes?

<u>Friedrich v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2175 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (Appendix A). Love v. Garcia, 634 So.2d 158 (Fla. 1994), a civil case involving medical blood arising out of the Fourth District Court of Appeal, held that the medical blood test results were admissible under the business records exception to hearsay. The introduction was based on a predicate which consisted of testimony by two records custodians, one from the <u>laboratory</u> (Smith Kline) <u>and</u> one from the <u>hospital</u>. The trial court, in <u>Love</u>, was concerned (and rightfully so) with the proper predicate of how the test was performed, what type of test was performed, and who drew the blood samples, all issues challenging the reliability and trustworthiness of the test results. <u>Id</u>. at 159. In <u>Love</u>, this Court held that the blood test results were admissible under a business records

exception to hearsay, finding that once the business records predicate is laid, the burden is one the party opposing the introduction to prove untrustworthiness of the records. <u>Id</u>. at 160. The Supreme Court's opinion in <u>Love</u> never mentions the standard imposed in the criminal medical blood case of <u>Strong</u>, or any recission from that decision or their rationale for receding from the requirements enumerated in <u>Strong</u>.

The inclination to apply <u>Love v. Garcia</u> to criminal cases is based on the presumption that hospital records reporting the results of blood alcohol tests administered by hospital personnel for medical treatment are generally trustworthy. <u>Love</u> stated: "such trustworthiness is based on the test's general acceptance in the medical field and the fact that the test in question is relied upon in the scientific discipline involved." <u>Love</u>, 634 So.2d at 160.

Love states that several districts have held that medical records are an exception to the hearsay rule and fall within § 90.803(6), Florida Statutes (1991) and cites to three civil cases. The Love opinion states: "This Court has not previously had the opportunity to rule on this issue and we do so now for the first time". Love, 634 So.2d at 160 (Fla. 1994). Recognizing that <u>Strong</u>, a criminal case, was decided by this Court in 1987, attention is drawn to the fact that this Court sees the Love facts as a different situation from the criminal case in <u>Strong</u>, therefore justifying the different opinions. Love therefore does not overrule or change in any way the criteria set forth in <u>Strong</u>.

This point is further emphasized by the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Sclafani</u> in 1997 (post <u>Love</u>) upholding the reliability criteria set forth in <u>Strong</u>.

No post-<u>Love</u> Florida case has approved the use of the business records exception as a means of avoiding <u>Strong/Sclafani</u> requirements for admission of medical blood results in a criminal case. (In <u>Brock v. State</u>, 676 So.2d 991 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), the court held, based on <u>Love</u>, that the <u>defendant</u> should have been permitted to try to lay a proper predicate for the admissions of an emergency room report containing references to blood alcohol results and intoxication as a business records exception. Those facts are distinguishable from this case, in which it is the State seeking to avoid having to prove the traditional admissibility predicate of <u>Sclafani</u> and <u>Strong</u>).

Section 90.803(6)(a), Fla. Stat., provides in relevant part:

(6) RECORDS OF REGULARLY CONDUCTED BUSINESS ACTIVITY.

(a) A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, opinion or diagnosis, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by a person with knowledge, if kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity and if it was the regular practice of that business activity to make such memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, all as shown by the testimony of the custodian or other qualified witness, unless the sources of information or other circumstances show lack of trustworthiness. The term "business" as used in this paragraph includes a business, institution, association profession, occupation, and calling of every kind, whether or not conducted for profit.

If the business record exception allows the State to avoid the Strong/Sclafani medical blood predicate the computer generated report introduced at trial should not be admissible as the "sources of information or other circumstances showed lack of trustworthiness". § 90.803(6)(a). The State introduced a computer generated report through the hospital records custodian who testified that it was her job to keep the records for the hospital (T-407-413). The information contained on the report was generated in a laboratory from a chemical blood analyzer operated by a technician and transferred from the print out of the analyzer into a computer. The laboratory has a separate record keeper responsible for the input of data from the chemical analyzer into the hospital computer system. There was no link between the source of the information contained in the document and the person who prepared the document, to the hospital records custodian as was the case in Love where the laboratory (Smith-Kline) records custodian and the hospital records custodian both testified. While the document itself may have been kept by the hospital records custodian, the source of the information (the laboratory personnel who generated the initial blood analysis report and the person responsible for recording the results) and the circumstances surrounding the ultimately generated report show a lack of trustworthiness. In the present case, the source of the information contained in the blood test results document was the person who performed the analysis on the blood sample. If that person is not available to testify and the hospital

records custodian testifies regarding the source of the information contained in the document, then not only is the document hearsay, the information contained in the document is hearsay. If the data entry is not correct, the report would not be correct, no matter how trustworthy the hospital records custodian is on keeping the document. The State seeks to bypass the integrity of the entire process starting with collecting the specimen, analyzing the specimen, and reporting the results by calling a witness with no connection to the laboratory. Therefore, if any business record could be used in a criminal case without a <u>Strong</u> predicate, it is not in the present case as the "sources of information or other circumstances" cannot insure the reported test result is trustworthy.

II.

ARGUMENT

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