IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 96,852

JOY FRIEDRICH,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief, West Palm Beach Florida Bar No. 0656879

ROBERT R. WHEELER

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0796409 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard Suite 300 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Respondent

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

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

This Court stated that once the predicate for section

90.803(6)(a) is laid, the burden is on the party opposing the introduction to prove the untrustworthiness of the records. <u>Id</u>. at 160. If the opposing party cannot fulfill its burden, then the record will be allowed into evidence as a business record, if it is relevant. <u>Id</u>.

Under the business record exception, the trustworthiness of medical records is presumed. <u>Id</u>. The trustworthiness of medical records is "based on the test's general acceptance in the medical field and the fact that the test in question is relied upon in the scientific discipline involved." <u>Id</u>.

In <u>Brock v. State</u>, 676 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), a criminal case, the First District Court of Appeal admitted hospital records establishing blood alcohol levels under the business record exception. Brock sought to admit into evidence the hospital's emergency record and a laboratory blood report to support his defense of voluntary intoxication. <u>Id</u>. at 993. The two reports showed the results of a blood alcohol test which had been ordered as part of his medical treatment. <u>Id</u>. at 994. The testimony of a nurse and the records custodian confirmed that these two reports qualified as business records. <u>Id</u>.

The State asserted that to admit the results of the blood alcohol test on the reports, "an adequate predicate would require

the testimony of the laboratory technicians who had drawn and tested the blood, and persons who could establish the chain of custody of the blood, and others (as necessary) to establish the accuracy of the test." <u>Id</u>. at 995. Relying on the holding in <u>Love v. Garcia</u>, <u>supra.</u>, the appellate court disagreed and set forth the procedure to be followed to admit medical records under the business records exception.

If a laboratory or hospital records custodian or other qualified witness establishes a proper predicate under section 90.803(6), Florida Statutes, "the burden is on the party opposing the introduction to prove the untrustworthiness of the records. If the opposing party is unable to carry this burden, then the record will be allowed into evidence as a business record" subject, of course, to the test of relevancy. Under the statutory hearsay exception, "the trustworthiness of medical records is presumed." (citations omitted)

<u>Id</u>. at 996. "Given the presumed trustworthiness of the medical records," the party opposing the admission has the burden to put on "laboratory technicians or experts to challenge the actual administration of the test." <u>Id</u>.

The court reiterated the reasoning behind admitting a hospital record under the business record exception: "The reasoning underlying <u>Love</u> is that where medical professionals generally rely on the test results, courts too are permitted to rely on the

medical records trustworthiness." <u>Id</u>. "Additionally, the proponent of evidence such as a laboratory report is not necessarily required to produce an actual laboratory technician to testify. The supreme court held that a records custodian will suffice." <u>Id</u>.

As the district court noted, other states have admitted blood alcohol tests into evidence in criminal cases as business records. In State v. Martorelli, 346 A. 2d 618, 622 (N.J. App. Div. 1975), the court held that in view of the simplicity and general reliability of a blood test, the results contained in a hospital report are admissible under the business record exception. In Dixon v. State, 489 S.E. 2d 532, 536 (Ga. App. 1997), the court found that "[t]he trial court did not err in finding a sufficient foundation for admission of the hospital record as a business record exception to the hearsay rule." In State v. Christian, 895 P. 2d 676 (N.M. Ct. App. 1995), the court held that the blood alcohol test results found in the state laboratory reports were properly admitted into evidence as a business record.

In <u>State v. Garlick</u>, 545 A. 2d 27, 33 (Md. 1988), the highest Maryland appellate court found hospital records admissible under the business records exception:

Thus, once it is clear that the hospital record was made in "the regular course of

business" and the recorded transactions are "pathologically germane to treatment" the record is admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule.

In <u>State v. Todd</u>, 935 S.W. 2d 55, 59-60 (Mo. Ct. App. 1996), the court, recognizing that properly prepared hospital records are admissible in the same manner as other business records, held that defendant's blood test recorded in those hospital records, was properly admitted as a business record. <u>See also State v. Yates</u>, 574 So. 2d 566 (La. Ct. App. 1991)(hospital records containing result of blood test admissible).

Petitioner's reliance on <u>State v. Strong</u>, 504 So 2d 758 (Fla. 1987) is misplaced. In <u>Strong</u>, this Court held that blood test evidence may be "admitted on establishing the traditional predicates for admissibility, including test reliability, the technician's qualifications, and the test results' meaning." <u>Id</u>. at 760. As the Fourth District Court of Appeal properly found in <u>Baber v. State</u>, <u>supra.</u>, <u>State v. Strong</u>, 504 So. 2d 758 (Fla. 1987) predated <u>Love v. Garcia</u>, <u>supra</u>. Accordingly, that case is inapplicable to the application of the business record exception for hospital records.

Petitioner's reliance on <u>State v. Scalafani</u>, 704 So. 2d 128 (4th DCA 1997) and <u>Michie v. State</u>, 632 So. 2d 1106 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) is equally misplaced. These cases from the district courts

of appeal have no precedential value for this Court (as opposed to Love v. Garcia, supra. which is an opinion authored by this Court and has direct precedential value). Additionally, both cases are factually distinguishable.

In <u>State v. Scalafani</u>, <u>supra.</u>, the defendant moved in limine to exclude blood sample evidence in trial, which the trial court granted. The appellate court held that medical blood was admissible as long as it could be shown to be reliable under the reliability criteria stated in <u>Strong</u>. <u>Id</u>. at 129. The court relied on the regulations of the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services and §316.1933, Florida Statutes (1995) -- the implied consent law -- in making this determination.

In the case at hand, the applicable statute at issue is §90.803, Florida Statutes (1997); §316.1933 is not and never was at issue. The State was required to establish a foundation for the admissibility of medical records pursuant to §90.803. The State never attempted to get the blood alcohol test results into evidence under the implied consent law -- the subject of §316.1933. Instead, the State relied solely upon the business records hearsay exception statute -- §90.803 -- to gain admission of Petitioner's medical blood alcohol results into evidence.

Similarly, the case of Michie v. State, supra., addresses the

requirements of introducing into evidence medical blood evidence pursuant to §316.1933, Florida Statutes (1991). This case does not address the issue presented here, the admissibility of medical blood evidence under the business record exception pursuant to §90.803, Florida Statutes (1997). Additionally, even if Michie v. State was applicable, it pre-dated Love v. Garcia: Michie was issued on March 2, 1994 and Love, which was originally issued on February 10, 1994, was not final until after the court denied a motion for rehearing on April 4, 1994.

The trial court's admission of medical blood alcohol evidence pursuant to the well-recognized business record exception is not an attempt to "circumvent the established requirements for admitting medical blood alcohol evidence" as Petitioner suggests (IB 9). These out-dated "requirements" are inapplicable. For the logical reasons enunciated by this Court in Love v. Garcia, supra., the law evolved to include hospital records under the business records exception.

Under the business record exception, the trustworthiness of medical records is presumed. Such trustworthiness is based in the test's general acceptance in the medical field and the fact that the test in question is relied upon in the scientific discipline involved. Actual reliance on the test in each course of treatment is not required. (emphasis added)

<u>Id</u>. at 160. For these same reasons set forth in <u>Love</u>, the law has logically evolved to allow for this exception in criminal cases.

B. LOVE V. GARCIA SHOULD BE APPLIED IN THIS CASE

Although Petitioner recognizes the "inclination to apply Love v. Garcia to criminal cases" (IB 11), Petitioner contends that it should not be applied in this case. Petitioner asserts that there is insufficient predicate to admit the blood alcohol records even under the business records exception because the testimony of the records custodian was not "trustworthy" (IB 11-15). Petitioner contends that the predicate was sufficient in Love, because there was testimony from two records custodians -- one from the laboratory and one from the hospital (IB 11,14). Petitioner's claim makes a distinction without a difference.

Medical records can be admitted into evidence under the business records exception if they are "made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge, if kept in the course of regularly conducted business activity" and if it was the regular practice to keep that record, as shown by the testimony of the custodian. §90.803(6)(a), Florida Statutes (1991). Certainly, the evidence in the case at hand meets these requirements of admissibility — the State laid the proper predicate.

The testimony of Rastikin provided that she was the records custodian responsible for the centralized medical records kept for each patient. (T 407). The records maintained by the custodian include those created by the emergency room staff and the medical laboratories. (T 408). Rastikin affirmed it was the hospital's routine practice to make a record of all procedures performed or contacts made with a patient and that these records are kept routinely by the hospital and made part of the patient's medical record. (T 408). Further, it is a routine practice for the hospital to draw a patient's blood and to order it be analyzed for drug or alcohol content. (T 408). Again, Rastikin explained it was the hospital's routine to maintain the results of the blood analysis in the medical records of the patient and to use the test results to determine the appropriate course of treatment. (T 408-409). She testified that the lab technician was responsible for the testing of the blood and chronicling the results at or near the time of the analysis. (T 409). She reiterated that these reports became part of the patient's medical records which the hospital maintained for each patient. (T 410). Appellant's medical records were produced by Rastikin and contained a record of the alcohol blood analysis. (T 410).

This testimony established the reliability of the medical

records pursuant to Love and section 90.803(6)(a), Florida Statutes (1997). The fact that in Love, this testimony was provided by two records custodians is a distinction without a difference to the case at hand, where one record custodian could provide the necessary predicate to admit records under the business record Additionally, in Love, it is apparent that the two exception. records custodians were used because the blood had been analyzed by a firm outside of the hospital, SmithKline, therefore, it was necessary to obtain testimony from the records custodian from that firm as well as the hospital. <u>Id</u>. at 159-60. This is markedly different from the case at hand, where the blood remained in the hospital and was analyzed by hospital staff. It was necessary to call only the hospital's record custodian when the blood remained in-hospital and the results were reported directly into the hospital's records.

Petitioner contends that "the laboratory personnel who generated the initial blood analysis report and the person responsible for recording the results" -- the lab technician -- needed to testify for the results to be trustworthy (IB 14-5). This requirement would defeat the whole purpose of the business record exception. The reasoning behind the business records exception to hearsay is to admit into evidence records kept in the

regular course of business through the testimony of the records custodian instead of requiring the technician who actually performed the blood test to testify. Florida law permits the testimony of a records custodian instead of the testimony of a technician who actually performed the blood test. See Brock v. State, supra.; Love v. Garcia, supra.

The fact that there is no need to question the technician who performed the blood test is the crux of the business records exception.

Defendant's articulated objection to failure to produce effect that the the physician or technician who performed the test deprived him of the ability to cross-examine as to his qualifications and as to the nature and reliability of the particular test which utilized is assertion which, an recognized, would run counter to the entire rationale underlying the business records exception to the hearsay rule. This rule was designed to eliminate the necessity producing employees of an organization to establish fact which experience has а demonstrated to be trustworthy.

State v. Martorelli, 346 A. 2d at 621. Because there is an "indicia of reliability" of the information in the business record, there is no need to confront the technician. The proper foundation from the record custodian, which was provided in this case (T 396-412), is all that is needed to admit these records into evidence.

Under this business records exception, only the records

custodian needs to lay the foundation for the admission of the records -- the technician does not have to be available or testify.

high degree of reliability, explained early on, permits introduction of the test results contained in the hospital records presented in this case without any need for showing unavailability of technician and without producing the technician. Under these circumstances, the constitutional right of confrontation is not offended.

State v. Garlick, 545 A. 2d at 35.

Contrary to Petitioner's assertion in her Initial Brief (IB 12), Florida case law does authorize the business record exception to establish blood alcohol levels. (See discussion of Brock v. State, 676 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) in Part A). The fact that it was the defendant seeking to admit the blood alcohol report into evidence as opposed to the State does not preclude that applicability of Brock. The business records hearsay exception is equally applicable to all parties, and regardless of what party is attempting to admit evidence under this exception, the proper predicate remains the same.

Love v. Garcia, supra., is properly applied in criminal cases, and medical blood alcohol results are admissible through the testimony of the hospital medical records custodian. The trial court properly admitted Petitioner's medical blood alcohol test

results contained in the hospital's business records.

POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SENTENCED PETITIONER.

Petitioner claims it was improper for victim injury points to be assessed for the death of Ramon Gutierrez and serious bodily injuries to Ramon Vega and Petitioner's son because the crimes include enhancement for victim injury as an element of the offense.

(IB 16). The court properly assessed victim injury points on Petitioner's scoresheet.

Petitioner failed to preserve this issue at the trial court level. The Fourth District Court of Appeal could have considered the issue only if it found the sentence imposed to be fundamental error. Romano v. State, 718 So. 2d 283, 284 (Fla. 4 DCA 1998) (sentencing errors which were not raised below either through a timely objection or by filing a Rule 3.800 motion are unpreserved and will not be addressed on direct appeal unless such sentencing error is fundamental); Hyden v. State, 715 So. 2d 960, 961 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) ("In order for a sentencing error to be raised on direct appeal from a conviction and sentence, it must be preserved in the trial court either by objection at the time of sentencing or in a motion to correct sentence under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(b)). The Fourth District Court of Appeal did not address this issue, but simply affirmed Petitioner's convictions

and sentences "in all respects". The appellate court did not find fundamental error.

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